RECEIVED

05-19-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP1965-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SETH Z. LEHRKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Chippewa County Circuit Court, the Honorable Steven Cray, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN D. BALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000729

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-3110 ballc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether Seth Lehrke's waiver of his *Miranda* rights and his subsequent confession to 1st degree child sexual assault were knowing, intelligent and voluntary given that he was barely 18 and had a 71 verbal IQ, and detectives read him his rights while he was shackled, handcuffed, and isolated in a small room during the interrogation.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in holding that Seth's false confessions expert failed *Daubert* and in excluding a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner's report which challenged the credibility of K.B., the alleged victim, and her father. If so, was Seth denied his constitutional right to present a complete defense?
- 3. Whether the DA engaged in prosecutorial misconduct when, during closing arguments, he (a) asserted facts not in evidence, (b) vouched for K.B.'s credibility, and (c) appealed to the justness of K.B.'s cause.
- 4. Whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to: (a) elicit professional opinions about Seth's psychological profile from his expert, Dr. Stress, (b) move to exclude or request a limiting instruction regarding parts of the video confession shown to the jury, and (c) object to prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §809.22 and 809.23, the court of appeals should hold oral argument and publish its opinion.

This case has a complicated procedural history, so oral argument would give the court of appeals an opportunity to ask questions about parts of the record that, despite the parties' best efforts, may not be clear from the briefs. Furthermore, this case raises issues of first impression, most notably whether expert testimony on false confessions satisfies *Daubert* and Wis. Stat. §907.02(1). Some Wisconsin circuit courts hold that it does. (App.190). The Chippewa County Circuit Court held that it does not. A published opinion will clarify Wisconsin law on this point and ensure its consistent application across the state.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Seth Lehrke turned 18 on December 22, 2012. In February 2013, he was living with his mother (Tracie Wittenberg), his stepfather, his stepbrother, Rod, and Rod's daughters K.B. and S.B., in a trailer in Chippewa Falls, Wisconsin. (R.257:15-18).

The State's Theory of the Case

According to the State, K.B., aged 6, told her father, Rod, that Seth had sexually assaulted her. More specifically, on February 8, 2013, during a videotaped interview, K.B. told a Child Advocacy Center representative that Seth was babysitting her and her sister. K.B. was watching TV in the living room, sitting on Seth's lap, and he tickled her. She went to her bedroom and lay down on the floor to watch a video. Seth was in the bathroom. He allegedly entered her room, pulled down her pants, got down on his knees, and

¹ K.B. and her father have the same initials. Per §809.19(1)(g) and (2)(a), Seth's brief and appendix refer to K.B.'s father by the pseudonym "Rod."

² This refers to Record Item No. 257 at page 15-18.

placed his privates on her bottom, and this hurt her. Later in the video she said that Seth pulled her into her bedroom and assaulted her. On February 11, 2013, two detectives interrogated Seth on videotape. He initially denied touching K.B. inappropriately, but by the end of the 99-minute interrogation he admitted that he had touched his penis to K.B.'s buttocks. (R.4; R.255:92-96).

The Defense's Theory of the Case

According to the defense, Rod has an explosive temper and a long criminal history, including 18 prior convictions. (R.256:18-19). Tracie was very protective of Seth, and Rod had become jealous of their close relationship. He trumped up the sexual assault allegation in order to get back at Seth. (R.257:24, 73-74; App.188).

In fact, just hours after K.B. spoke to the child advocate, Rod took her to Sacred Heart Hospital to be examined by a Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner. K.B. told the nurse that she felt fine, and she did not hurt anywhere. When asked why she was at the hospital K.B. answered "I don't know." Rod blew up at this exchange and ordered the nurse to just check "her ass and her vagina." The nurse wrote that when Rod learned there was no evidence of sexual assault, he became upset, threw K.B.'s discharge papers on the ground, and left. (R.165, Ex. 9 at 3, 7, 11, 13, 16-17).

Although Seth looks and speaks normally, it is undisputed that he has a substantial cognitive disability. Part of his defense strategy was to establish that his cognitive disability prevented him from giving a knowing and voluntary *Miranda* waiver and confession. Another part was to show that his confession was false. Seth thus planned to call (1) Amanda Turner, his special education teacher to testify about his struggles in school and in understanding

what is being said to him; (2) Dr. Brian Stress, a psychologist, to testify about his IQ testing and functional abilities, and (3) Dr. Richard Leo, a criminologist and sociologist, to testify about suspect characteristics and interrogation techniques associated with false confessions. (R.63; R.75). Seth's defense strategy also included eliciting testimony that just 10 weeks before the alleged assault he had had ACL surgery and was still using a leg brace. Thus, physically he could not have knelt down to commit the assault described by Rod and K.B. (R.257:141, 145).

Pre-Trial Proceedings

The extensive pre-trial proceedings for this case lasted two years. Three particular motions are pertinent to this appeal.

- 1. Seth moved to suppress his videotaped confession, arguing that neither his *Miranda* waiver nor his confession were knowing, intelligent and voluntary. (R.14, R.21). The trial court denied the motion. (R.240:5-7).
- 2. The State moved to exclude the testimony of Dr. Leo on the grounds that it did not satisfy Wis. Stat. §907.02, which codified *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm.*, *Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). (R.48, R.64). The court held a *Daubert* hearing and granted the motion. (R.248, R.249:50-52). Seth moved to reconsider and lost. (R. 86, R. 91, R.250:20). He filed a petition for leave to appeal the issue, which the court of appeals denied. (R. 97).
- 3. The State moved to exclude the 20-page report of the nurse who examined K.B. The court granted the motion and further barred Seth from asking Rod about what happened at the hospital. (R.256:11-17). The court allowed into evidence only the two-sentence conclusion indicating

that K.B.'s genitals appeared normal. (R.165; R.130 Ex. 5). Due to this ruling, the parties agreed not to call the nurse to testify at trial. (R.255:17-18; R.256:11-14).

The Trial and Sentencing

The case was tried to a jury on March 12-13, 2015. Because there was no physical evidence of a sexual assault, the outcome hinged on the credibility of the witnesses—primarily, Seth, K.B. and Rod.

Seth and K.B. had lived together in Tracie's trailer for about 10 months. At the time of trial, K.B. was 8 years old. She could not identify Seth. (R.255:135). She did not know where they had lived together. When asked to list the people living with them, she forgot her little sister. (R.255:136-137). She didn't remember being interviewed at the Child Advocacy Center. She testified to wearing clothes that were different than those she described in the video. She testified that Seth put his private *in* her bottom, but "he wasn't putting his weight on her." (R.255:139, 141, 146, 153). In addition to K.B.'s testimony, the State played the child advocate video from two years before. K.B. said she didn't remember it. (R.130, Ex. 2).

The State called Detective Kleinhans, who testified that he and a partner interrogated Seth on video. The State played a redacted version of the confession for the jury. (R.255:102-103; R.130, Ex. 1).

Rod testified that K.B. told him what Seth had done on February 3, 2013, when the two of them returned from a trip to Wal-Mart. He admitted to grabbing Seth and threatening him. He was not asked, and did not testify about, Seth's ACL surgery and recovery. (R.256:75; R.257:1-7).

Seth testified that he was confused and scared during the interrogation. He knew that he was accused of sexual assault, but did not understand his *Miranda* rights because Detective Kleinhans read them too fast. It seemed to him that the detectives would not believe his denials, and they would pursue the case regardless, so he just agreed with what they wanted to hear. (R.257:61-62). Seth testified to his ACL surgery and that he still used a leg brace and was unable to kneel at the time of arrest. In fact, his mom would not even let him babysit alone. (R.257:66-70). Seth also testified that on February 3rd, Rod called Tracie and Seth and told them "to get their asses home." They went home. He grabbed Seth by the throat and said if you ever touch my kids again, I'm going to kill you. (R.257:2, 73-74). Tracie (mother of Seth and Rod) and Tom Spaeth (a family friend) testified in support of Seth's version of events, including his inability to babysit alone or get down on his knees due to his ACL surgery and the fact that he was still wearing a leg brace. (R.257:21-39; 42-45)

Dr. Stress testified that Seth's full scale IQ test results (73) were in the bottom 4% of the population, and his verbal IQ (71) was at the bottom 1% of the population. He said that these test results showed that Seth would have significant difficulties understanding things. (R.256:36-39). Dr. Stress was not asked for his professional opinion about how such a low IQ manifests itself in a person.

Amanda Turner, Seth's special education teacher and case manager testified about his "E" grades. (R.256:54). She read out loud to him and found that he often could not remember what she read. Nor could he answer questions about the material. Seth would respond to questions with "yeah, yeah, yeah, I understand," but then she would find that he did not understand. (R.256:54-57). According to Turner,

"Seth was very good pretending he understood and responding yes." (R.256:65).

The jury convicted Seth of 1st degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13. The trial court sentenced him to 5.5 years of initial confinement and 4 years of extended supervision. (App.101).

Postconviction Proceedings

Seth filed a postconviction motion which more fully challenged the trial court's decisions to (1) deny suppression, (2) exclude Dr. Leo's false confession expert testimony, and (3) exclude the nurse's report. He further argued that (4) the DA engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments, and (5) trial counsel provided ineffective assistance. (R. 165-R.168).

The trial court denied arguments (1) through (4) from the bench on March 3, 2016. (R. 260; App.115). On May 12, 2016, it held a *Machner* hearing and orally denied Seth's claims for ineffective assistance of counsel. (R.261; App.105). The trial court's reasons for these decisions will be set forth in the corresponding Argument sections below. The court entered an order denying postconviction relief on September 29, 2016. (R. 225; App.103). Seth appealed.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Suppression Because Seth's *Miranda* Waiver and Subsequent Confession Were Not Knowing, Intelligent and Voluntary.
 - A. The trial court's decision.

The trial court agreed that Detective Kleinhans's reading of Seth's *Miranda* rights was rapid and observed: "I can't talk that fast myself. I don't ever want to, but they were intelligible." (App.119). It noted that Seth was listening to his *Miranda* rights and wasn't scared to ask a question. (App.116-117). Seth never said "I don't understand." "He was not cowed into passive acceptance of the questions that were being posed." (App.117). The court held that there is no case or "facts or scientific research to indicate some sort of cutoff point as to when somebody is considered not able to comprehend events." (App.118). It held that Kleinhans did not mislead Seth about his *Miranda* rights. Thus, his waiver was knowing and voluntary. (App.119-120).

As for the voluntariness of Seth's confession, the court held that its suppression decision continued to be "entirely valid and accurate." (App.120). The interrogation lasted "only" 99 minutes. The officers did not coerce or abuse Seth. Nor did they deprive him of food and water. He did not complain about being handcuffed and shackled. (R.240:6-8). He did not express "through body language, through the tone of his voice, or in his words that his free will was being overcome." (App.120).

B. The standard of review.

Typically, the court of appeals reviews the denial of suppression under a two-part standard of review. It upholds the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but it reviews *de novo* whether those facts warrant suppression. However, when the issue concerns the admissibility of a videotape that is in the appellate record, the court of appeals conducts a *de novo* review. *See e.g. State v. Jimmie R.R.*, 2000 WI App 5, ¶39, 232 Wis. 2d 138, 606 N.W.2d 196 (re videotaped statement of victim) and *Brown v. State*, 290 Ga. 865, 868, 725 S.E.2d 320 (2012)(re videotaped confession).

C. Seth's *Miranda* waiver was invalid.

The State bears the burden of proving that a suspect's *Miranda* waiver was "the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion or deception" and with "full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986). (Emphasis supplied). Miranda itself requires police to inform the suspect in "clear and unequivocal terms" of his right to remain silent, to consult a lawyer and to have a lawyer present during the interrogation. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 467-468 (1966). A court decides whether the State has carried its burden of proof by examining the totality of the circumstances. Moran at 421.

Substantial evidence shows Seth's *Miranda* waiver was neither knowing nor intelligent.³ First, Kleinhans did not

³ Seth's video confession is at R.130, Ex. 1. The transcript is in the Reply Brief's Supplemental Appendix. "Supp.App.101:4" refers to Supplemental Appendix page 101, confession transcript page 4.

read Seth's *Miranda* rights in a clear or effective manner. He read a version containing 1,121 words as one run-on sentence in just 25 seconds (or 290 words per minute). By comparison, the average American speaks at 110-150 words per minute.⁴ Contrary, to the trial court's view, this high-speed *Miranda* warning would not be comprehensible to someone unfamiliar with it. *See Clay v. State*, 290 Ga. 822, 825, 725 S.E.2d 260, 266 (2012)(*Miranda* warnings read at super speed would sound like gibberish to anyone not having prior familiarity with *Miranda*).

Second, Kleinhans read the *Miranda* warning at warp speed to a person who is cognitively disabled. It is undisputed that Seth has a 71 verbal IQ, which means his verbal comprehension is at the bottom 1% of the population. (R.256:36-39). Seth's teacher testified that he was very good at pretending to understand what she said to him but when she asked follow up questions she could tell that he did not. (R.256:56-57, 65). Kleinhans knew Seth was learning disabled before the interrogation. He did not know the extent of the disability, but he also made no inquiries about it. (R.238:113). He just zipped through the warning.

Third, Kleinhans ended his unintelligible *Miranda* warning with the question "do you understand each of these rights?" Seth answered "yes." Then the following exchange occurred:

⁴And auctioneers speak at 250-400 words per minute. *See* https://www.quora.com/Speeches/For-the-average-person-speaking-at-a-normal-pace-what-is-the-typical-number-of-words-they-can-say-in-one-minute (last visited Jan. 14, 2017).

⁵ When reviewing a suppression decision, an appellate court may consider trial evidence. *State v. Gaines*, 197 Wis. 2d 102, 106 n.1, 539 N.W.2d 723 (Ct. App. 1995).

Detective Kleinhans: You understand that you have each of these rights are you now willing to answer questions or make a statement?

Seth: All right.

Detective Kleinhans: What's that?

Seth: What's the last two things you said—not on the card but I didn't . . .

Detective Kleinhans: As you have these rights are you now willing to answer questions or make a statement. Basically, do you want to talk to me today and try to figure out what is going on?

Seth: Yeah, I want to know what is going on.

(Supp.App.102:6). (Emphasis supplied).

The above exchange shows Seth wanted to find out "what was going on," not that he wanted to waive his *Miranda* rights. Kleinhans's "clarification" was misleading. When a suspect is misled about his *Miranda* rights, his waiver is not knowing and intelligent, and it must be suppressed. *State v. Rockette*, 2005 WI App 205, ¶24, 287 Wis. 2d 257, 704 N.W.2d 382.

In sum, due to Seth's undisputed cognitive disability, Kleinhans's rapid-fire reading of *Miranda*, and Kleinhans's misstatement about what *Miranda* means, Seth's waiver was not knowing and intelligent. *See State v. Floyd*, 306 Ga.App. 402, 405-406, 702 S.E.2d 467 (2010)(waiver invalid where policeman read *Miranda* rights in 30 seconds and misstated the substance of the waiver he asked the suspect to sign); *Commonwealth v. Benjamin*, 28 Va.App. 548, 553, 507 S.E.2d 113 (1998)(no waiver where reading of *Miranda* rights was unintelligible, while other statements to the suspect

were clear, and where detective misstated the contents of the form he asked suspect to sign). The State did not carry its burden of proof. The court of appeals should reverse the trial court's denial of Seth's suppression motion and order a new trial.

D. Seth's confession was not knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

The State bore the burden of proving that Seth's confession was voluntary by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶17, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110. A defendant's statements are voluntary "if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by the representative of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." *Id.*, ¶18 (quoting *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, ¶38, 261 Wis. 2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407.) "A necessary prerequisite for a finding of involuntariness is coercive or improper police conduct." *Id.* ¶19. But coerciveness can be subtle.

Rather, *subtle pressures* are considered to be coercive if they exceed the defendant's ability to resist. Accordingly, pressures that are not coercive in one set of circumstances may be coercive in another set of circumstances if the defendant's condition renders him or her uncommonly susceptible to police pressures.

Id. (quoting *Hoppe*, ¶37). (Emphasis supplied).

When evaluating a confession, a court considers the totality of the circumstances and balances the defendant's personal characteristics against the pressures and tactics that law enforcement used to induce the confession. *Id.* ¶20; *Hoppe*, ¶38. The relevant personal characteristics are the

defendant's (1) age, (2) education and intelligence, (3) physical and emotional condition, and (4) prior experience with law enforcement. Hoppe, ¶3. The police tactics and pressures to be considered are:

The length of questioning, any delay in arraignment, the general conditions under which the statements took place, any excessive physical or *psychological pressure* brought to bear on the defendant, any *inducements*, threats, *methods or strategies used by the police* to compel a response and whether the defendant was informed of the right to counsel and the right against self-incrimination.

Id. (Emphasis supplied).

Regarding Seth's personal characteristics, he had just turned 18. His verbal IQ is in the bottom 1% of the population. He had no prior convictions. He graduated from a special program earning "E for effort" grades.

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