## **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-28-2017

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT III

Case No. 2016AP1965-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SETH Z. LEHRKE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDERS DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CHIPPEWA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE STEVEN R. CRAY, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

WARREN D. WEINSTEIN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013263

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Expert testimony must also assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact at issue in the case. Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). Expert testimony is not necessary to assist the trier of fact concerning matters of common knowledge or those within the realm of ordinary experience. Racine Cty. v. Oracular Milwaukee, Inc., 2010 WI 25, ¶28, 323 Wis.2d 682, 781 N.W.2d 88. If "everything that the expert would testify to . . . is within the common knowledge and sense and perception of the jury," the trial court does not erroneously exercise its discretion by refusing to admit such expert evidence. Shomberg, 288 Wis.2d 1, ¶13 (citation omitted).

Even if expert testimony is admissible under Wis. Stat. § 907.02, it may still be excluded if its "probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of . . . ,

21

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In 2000, Federal Rule 702 was amended to codify the trilogy of Supreme Court cases *Daubert*, *General Electric*, and *Kumho Tire*.

confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury." Wis. Stat. § 904.03; *State v. Richardson*, 210 Wis.2d 694, 708, 563 N.W.2d 899 (1997).

The circuit court properly excluded Dr. Leo's testimony because it would not assist the jury and would mislead them. The circuit court recognized that Dr. Leo had extensive experience in false confessions, found his research methods valid and that his research has identified risk factors for false confessions. (R.249:45-46.) Dr. Leo's research had been subjected to some peer review. (R.249:48-49.) But Dr. Leo could not give the jury any objective method to accurately predict whether Lehrke's confession was true or false. (R.249:49-50.) Without research that gives the jury objective predictive values, the court concluded Dr. Leo's testimony would encourage the jury to speculate. (R.249:50.)

The court reasoned that the testimony would not assist the jury. The record supports the circuit court's conclusion. Dr. Leo admitted that the percentage of false confessions of all confessions is unknown. (R.248:29.) He did not testify to any probability that Lehrke's confession was false. He testified he could not give a probability of whether a particular confession is true or false. (R.248:36.) And, even if one knew the general probability for false confessions with any given police technique, that probability would still not tell the jury whether this particular confession is true or false. (R.248:37.) As the court concluded, this testimony encourages speculation.

The circuit court also found that Dr. Leo had done no research in predicting whether a particular confession is true or false. (R.249:48.) Despite the validity of Dr. Leo's principles, their predictive value is unknown. (R.249:49.) Therefore, Dr. Leo's research is "of limited value in deciding

whether a particular confession is accurate or inaccurate. (R.249:48.)

In addition, the circuit court found that if the jury was aware of Lehrke's limited intellectual abilities and his youth, it would consider that his confession might be false. (R.249:51.) The court concluded the jury's common experience with children would indicate young people can make false statements. (R.249:51-52.)

These conclusions find support in decisions from other states upholding the exclusion of Dr. Leo's testimony. In *People v. Kowalsk*, 821 N.W.2d 14 (Mich. 2012), the trial court criticized Dr. Leo's methodology because it failed to identify factors that contribute to false confessions but do not contribute to true confessions. *Id.* at 22. The Michigan Supreme Court agreed. "The unreliable methodology, as the circuit court described, resulted in conclusions consistent with Leo's own preconceived beliefs rather than testable results consistent with an objective, scientific process." *Id.* at 32.

The fact that police tactics may or may not cause false confessions formed one basis for the Washington Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court's rejection of Dr. Leo's false confession testimony. In *State v. Rafay*, 285 P.3d 83 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012), the court noted that the record in that case, as here, was silent as to any "specific correlation -- statistical or otherwise -- between coercive interrogation methods and the likelihood of an unreliable or false confession in any particular case." *Id.* at 111. The *Rafay* court also observed, "[Dr.] Leo's testimony about the risk factors of false confessions would have been highly speculative and provided the jury with scant assistance in evaluating [the case]." *Id.* at 110.

In *State v. Vent*, 67 P.3d 661 (Alaska Ct. App. 2003), the Alaska Court of Appeals observed that "[m]any of the tactics used by police that create false confessions typically result in true confessions as well." *Id.* at 670. The court affirmed the trial court's exclusion of Dr. Leo's testimony.

In People v. Polk, 942 N.E.2d 44 (Ill. Ct. App. 2010), the Illinois Court of Appeals rejected Dr. Leo's testimony in a case involving a defendant with an IQ of 70. Id. at 64. The court concluded that since the jury heard testimony about the his defendant's low IQ. education and intellectual performance, the conditions of the interrogation and viewed the defendant's videotape statement, the jury could decide the issue of the reliability of the defendant's statements without Dr. Leo's testimony. Id. And in State v. Davis, 32 S.W.3d 603 (Mo. Ct. App. 2000), the Missouri Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's exclusion of Dr. Leo's testimony because the "jury [was] capable of understanding the reasons why a statement may be unreliable; therefore, the introduction of expert testimony would be 'a superfluous attempt to put the gloss of expertise . . . upon inferences which lav persons were equally capable of drawing from the evidence." Id. at 609 (citation omitted).

Lehrke points to cases permitting false confession expert testimony in other states. (Lehrke's Br. 20, 23.) Given that these states use an erroneous exercise (or abuse) of discretion standard of review, it is not surprising there is a split in the states whether false confession testimony is admissible. The question before this Court, however, is whether the circuit court's exclusion of Dr. Leo's testimony considered the appropriate law, the facts of record, and reached a reasonable decision. The fact that other jurisdictions agree with the circuit court's conclusions demonstrates that the court's decision is a reasonable one.

Lehrke claims the circuit court misapplied *Daubert*. He cites *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶69, 252 Wis.2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777. *St. George* does not control here for three reasons. First, it is a pre-*Daubert* case. Second, and more importantly, Lehrke ignores the fact that the testimony of the expert in *St. George* involved statistics, a subject not within the common knowledge of many jurors and which say nothing about whether most jurors realize a young person of low or limited intellect is more susceptible to giving a false statement. And third, *St. George* involved a recantation. It did not involve police techniques or whether police somehow coerced the speaker to falsely admit to something.

Finally, the circuit court properly found that Dr. Leo's testimony would confuse or mislead the jury. Dr. Leo testified the primary techniques identified by his research that raise the risk of a false confession are a lengthy interrogation or sleep deprivation, false evidence ploys, minimization, implied or explicit promises, and implied or explicit threats. (R.248:19, 34, 43.) These factors are virtually identical with the factors bearing on whether a confession is voluntary. In Wisconsin, the question of whether a confession is voluntary is solely for the judge; whether a confession is truthful is solely for the jury. *State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke*, 27 Wis.2d 244, 258, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965).

The almost identical nature of Dr. Leo's factors and the factors that bear on voluntariness might well lead a jury to conclude that they must determine whether Lehrke's confession was voluntary. Or, perhaps, they would disregard the confession because they believed it to be involuntary even if they thought it to be true. The circuit court's concern that the jury might embark on the wrong inquiry or speculate was a reasonable one.

For all these reasons, the circuit court did not misuse its discretion in excluding Dr. Leo's testimony.

# C. The exclusion of Dr. Leo's testimony did not deny Lehrke the right to present a defense.

The Confrontation Clause and the Compulsory Process Clause together grant the defendant a constitutional right to present a defense. See State v. Pulizzano, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 645, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990) (citing Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973)). The Supreme Court has observed, however, "[t]he accused does not have an unfettered right to offer [evidence] that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence." Montana v. Egelhoff, 518 U.S. 37, 42 (1996) (alteration in original) (citing Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410 (1988)). Rules excluding evidence do not abridge an accused's right to present a defense so long as they are not arbitrary or disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve. *United States v.* Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998). The Court has "found the exclusion of evidence to be unconstitutionally arbitrary or disproportionate only where it has infringed upon a weighty interest of the accused." Id.

Whether exclusion of particular evidence denied a defendant the right to present a defense requires a reviewing court to determine whether the proffered evidence was "essential to" the defense, and whether without the proffered evidence, the defendant had "no reasonable means of defending his case." *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, ¶70, 253 Wis.2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919 (quoting *State v. Johnson*, 118 Wis.2d 472, 480, 348 N.W.2d 196 (Ct. App. 1984)).

Lehrke does not argue the rules of evidence that the circuit court relied on here are arbitrary or disproportionate. He relies instead on the two-part framework established in

State v. St. George. It is noteworthy that Williams was decided shortly after St. George. Williams does not go through St. George's two-step analysis. Rather, it focuses only on whether the excluded evidence was essential to Williams' defense and left him with no reasonable means of defending his case. Williams, 253 Wis.2d 99, ¶¶71-73.

Here, Lehrkey cannot establish that Dr. Leo's testimony was essential to his defense nor that he had no reasonable means of defending his case. He had other reasonable means of presenting his theory that his confession was false. The circuit court allowed him to present the testimony of Dr. Stress and Amanda Turner to establish his limited intellectual ability. The victim, the interrogating police detective, and Lehrke testified. The jury viewed recordings of both the victim and Lehrke. The circuit court placed no restrictions on arguing his confession was false. Lehrke's counsel argued that the confession was false because of the police tactics. (R.258:57-65.)

Further, even if this court uses the *St. George* analysis, Lehrke cannot succeed. Lehrke cannot satisfy the first factor; as demonstrated above Dr. Leo's testimony does not meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 907.02. And he also cannot meet the fourth factor; the circuit court correctly held Dr. Leo's testimony would mislead the jury.

# IV. The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when it excluded all of the SANE report except the result of the physical examination.

Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by the rules of evidence. Wis. Stat. § 908.02; *State v. Beauchamp*, 2011 WI 27, ¶13 n.15, 333 Wis.2d 1, 796 N.W.2d 780. "Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to

make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 904.01; *In re Commitment of Talley*, 2017 WI 21, ¶52.

Lehrke claims the SANE report was admissible hearsay as a statement made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment. Wis. Stat. § 908.03(4). He is wrong.

Wisconsin Stat. § 908.03(4) (2015-16) provides:

Hearsay exceptions; availability of declarant immaterial. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness:

. . . .

(4) Statements for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

The plain language of the statute requires statements. In Lehrke's offer of proof, however, he sought to introduce mostly documentation of the victim's father's conduct. The description of the father's angry reaction or his destruction of paperwork does not fall within the plain language of the exception because the documented conduct is neither a statement intended as an assertion nor did the conduct describe a medical history, past or present symptoms, pain or sensations, or the cause or external source of the victim's injury. Wis. Stat. §§ 908.01(1), 908.03(4).

As to the father's verbal statements, a parent's statements to medical professionals fall within this exception

if they otherwise meet section 908.03(4)'s requirements. State v. Huntington, 216 Wis.2d 671, 694, 575 N.W.2d 268 (1998). But statements concerning Lehrke's mother or the purpose of the visit to the hospital do not fall within the enumerated purposes the rule identifies. The father's statements were not of past or present symptoms. They did not describe pain. Nor did they bear on the cause of the injury.

Moreover, if the circuit court correctly determined the statements were not relevant to Lehrke's theory of defense, they were relevant only to credibility. Specific instances of conduct are proper cross-examination to demonstrate lack of credibility, but extrinsic evidence, such as the report here, is barred by Wis. Stat. § 906.08(2). *State v. Selders*, 163 Wis.2d 607, 619, 472 N.W.2d 526 (Ct. App. 1991).

Finally, the victim's statement that she didn't know why she was at the hospital, which might qualify as a statement for medical diagnosis cannot save the entire report. Lehrke never mentioned the statement in his offer of proof. He did not make a limited offer regarding the victim's statement.

### V. The prosecutor's closing argument was not plain error.

Lehrke failed to object to the prosecutor's comments or to move for a mistrial during the State's closing argument. (R.261:48.) He thus has forfeited a review of this challenge on the merits. *State v. Miller*, 2012 WI App 68, ¶17, 341 Wis.2d 737, 816 N.W.2d 331 (citing *State v. Saunders*, 2011 WI App 156, ¶29 n.5, 338 Wis.2d 160, 807 N.W.2d 679). He may directly raise this claim only as plain error. Wis. Stat. § 903.01(4); *State v. Cameron*, 2016 WI App 54, ¶11, 370 Wis.2d 661, 885 N.W.2d 611.

Plain error is error so fundamental that a new trial or other relief must be granted even though the action was not objected to at the time. State v. Jorgensen, 2008 WI 60, ¶21, 310 Wis.2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77. The error, however, must be obvious and substantial. When a defendant claims that a prosecutor's statements in closing argument constituted plain error, the test is whether, in the context of the entire record of the trial, the statements "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." State v. Davidson, 2000 WI 91, ¶88, 236 Wis.2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606 (citation omitted). Courts should use the plain error doctrine sparingly. Cameron, 370 Wis.2d 661, ¶11 (citing Jorgensen, 310 Wis.2d 138, ¶¶21-22). This Court has said that a prosecutor "should be allowed considerable latitude in closing argument." State v. Wolff, 171 Wis.2d 161, 167, 491 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1992).

Lehrke claims the prosecutor committed plain error during his closing argument. In closing, a prosecutor may "comment on the evidence, detail the evidence, argue from it to a conclusion, and state that the evidence convinces him or her and should convince the jurors." *Miller*, 341 Wis.2d 737, ¶20 (citing *State v. Adams*, 221 Wis.2d 1, 19, 584 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App. 1998)). "[A] criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone, for the statements . . . must be viewed in context; only by so doing can it be determined whether the prosecutor's conduct affected the fairness of the trial." *Wolff*, 171 Wis.2d at 168 (alterations in original) (citing *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 11 (1985)).

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